
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872453
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

8 May 2017

Dear Councillor

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the ELECTORAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 
will be held in the Council Chamber at these Offices on Tuesday 16 May 2017 at 5.00 pm or 
upon the rising of the South Kent Coast Health and Wellbeing Board whichever is the 
later when the following business will be transacted. 

Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Rebecca Brough 
on (01304) 872304 or by e-mail at rebecca.brough@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive 

Electoral Matters Committee Membership:

P A Watkins (Chairman)
S S Chandler (Vice-Chairman)
M R Eddy
F J W Scales
P Walker

AGENDA

1   APOLOGIES  

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

To note appointments of Substitute Members.
 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Page 3)

To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 

Public Document Pack



2

transacted on the agenda. 
 

4   MINUTES  (Pages 4 - 7)

To confirm the attached Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 02 July 
2015.
 

5   PROPOSAL FOR A REVIEW OF ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS BY THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND  

To consider whether to recommend to Council that the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England conduct a review of the Council’s electoral arrangements 
including wards and number of Members. 
 

Access to Meetings and Information

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information.

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber.

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes are normally published within five working 
days of each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are available for public 
inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Rebecca Brough, 
Team Leader - Democratic Support, telephone: (01304) 872304 or email: 
rebecca.brough@dover.gov.uk for details.

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request.



Declarations of Interest

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting.

Other Significant Interest (OSI)

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules.

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI)

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration.

Note to the Code: 

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI.

3

Agenda Item No 3



Minutes of the meeting of the ELECTORAL MATTERS COMMITTEE held at the 
Council Offices, Whitfield on Thursday, 2 July 2015 at 9.02 am.

Present:

Chairman: Councillor P A Watkins

Councillors: S S Chandler
M R Eddy
S Hill
F J W Scales

Officers: Head of Democratic Services
Team Leader - Electoral and Land Charges
Team Leader – Democratic Support

1 APOLOGIES 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor P M Brivio.

2 APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

It was noted that in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4, Councillor S Hill had 
been appointed as substitute member for Councillor P M Brivio. 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 6 October 2015 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

5 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS REVIEW 

The Head of Democratic Services introduced the report on the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) review of Electoral Arrangements for 
Kent County Council.

The proposals were for an 81 member Kent County Council with an average 
electorate per councillor of 14,288 based on a predicted electorate of 1,157,343 for 
Kent by 2020. The proposals retained the existing number of County Divisions (7) 
for the Dover District and kept the two-member divisions for Deal Town and Dover 
Town. Overall, the proposals created 65 single-member divisions and 8 two-
member divisions. 

The new Deal Town Division had been expanded to include the area of Sholden 
Parish Council and the new Dover Town Division had been expanded to include the 
area of River Parish Council in order to maintain the principle of electoral equality.

The LGBCE proposals for the pattern of electoral divisions were based upon:

 Electoral equality of representation (i.e. the number of electors represented 
by each councillor)

4

Agenda Item No 4



 Community identity (that the electoral area reflects the interests and identity 
of local communities)

 Effective and convenient local government

The key factor was electoral equality as none of the proposed divisions could vary 
from the average number of electors per councillor by more than +/-10%. The 
proposed divisions had a variance of between +2% and -9% from the average. 

The Head of Democratic Services advised that urban areas had been split into 
separate divisions in several districts and presented Members with options for 
replacing the proposed two-member divisions for Dover Town and Deal Town with 
single-member divisions that still fulfilled the conditions relating to electoral equality. 

The options were as follows:

Dover Town Division 1
District/Parish Area Electorate 2020
River (the area of River Civil Parish) 3305
St Radigund’s Ward 4310
Maxton, Elms Vale & Priory Ward 5910

13525
 
Dover Town Division 2
District/Parish Area Electorate 2020
Tower Hamlets Ward 4290
Buckland Ward 5780
Town & Pier Ward 1800
Castle Ward 1760

13630

Deal Division 1
Option A Electorate 2020 Option B Electorate 2020
Middle Deal Ward 6810 Middle Deal Ward 6810
Mill Hill Ward 6610 North Deal Ward 6240

13420 13050

Deal Division 2
Option A Electorate 2020 Option B Electorate 2020
Walmer Ward 6950 Walmer Ward 6950
North Deal Ward 6240 Mill Hill Ward 6610

13190 13560

The proposed single-member divisions all had an electoral equality variance of the 
same or smaller than the LGBCE draft recommendations (Dover Town -8% and 
Deal Town -7%).

The Committee was advised that the Head of Democratic Services’ options for 
single-member divisions had the following benefits:

 That they would be in keeping with the original intention of Kent County 
Council to move to single-member divisions wherever it was practical;

 That it provided for improved electoral equality over the two-member division 
proposals; 

 Were in keeping with single-member divisions in other urban areas;

5



 It would provide for time and cost benefits in administering the elections; and 
 In terms of community identity, the Deal Division had previously been 

composed of Deal East and Deal West Divisions based on local topography 
and one of the proposed options would restore this arrangement.

  
Councillor M R Eddy stated that he believed that the retention of the two-member 
division for Deal Town was the most appropriate option as many of the issues 
affecting constituents were town-wide matters such as road access through 
Walmer. The introduction of a new two-member division for the Isle of Sheppey in 
the draft recommendations was cited as an example of the merit of using two-
member divisions where it was appropriate to do so.

In contrast, Councillor P A Watkins advocated a return to the previous Deal East 
and Deal West Divisions divided by the rail line which from his personal experience 
as a former county councillor had worked effectively.  

Councillor S S Chandler raised a question over a discrepancy between the 
narratives in the draft recommendations and the electoral area maps and requested 
that the Head of Democratic Services seek clarification. 

RESOLVED: That it be recommended to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England:

(a) That the proposed two-member Deal Town Division be split into 
two single-member divisions as follows: 

(i) Deal West Division (Middle Deal Ward and Mill Ward)
(ii) Deal East Division (Walmer Ward and North Deal Ward)

On the grounds that it provided for greater electoral equality 
than the draft recommendations, was consistent with urban 
areas in other districts and achieved the original intention of 
single-member divisions where practical while still providing a 
strong community identity with a clearly identifiable boundary 
(the railway line). 

(b) That the proposed two-member Dover Town Division be split 
into two single-member divisions as follows:

(i) Dover Urban West (River Civil Parish, St Radigund’s Ward 
and Maxton, Elms Vale & Priory Ward)

(ii) Dover Urban East (Tower Hamlets Ward, Buckland Ward, 
Town and Pier Ward and Castle Ward)

On the grounds that it provided for greater electoral equality 
than the draft recommendations, was consistent with urban 
areas in other districts and achieved the original intention of 
single-member divisions where practical while still providing for 
divisions with a strong community identity.

(c) That the Head of Democratic Services review the online draft 
recommendations and advise the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England of any discrepancy between the 
narrative and the electoral area maps if necessary. 

6



6 DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS 

The Head of Democratic Services presented the report on the Dover District Council 
Electoral Arrangements.

The Committee was advised that as at July 2015 the Town and Pier Ward had a 
variance in excess of 30% from the current average electorate for the district and 
therefore potentially met the criteria for triggering a periodic electoral review by the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England. In light of this, Members 
were asked to consider whether there was merit in the Council seeking to initiate a 
review of its electoral arrangements, including the matter of the number of elected 
members, as a consequence and given that the last review had occurred over a 
decade ago.

In addition, the possibility of the electoral imbalance falling below the 30% variance 
trigger point following the annual canvass for the register of electors and the 
publication of the revised register on 1 December 2015 was raised. 

The Committee requested further information over the timetable for a review of the 
Council’s electoral arrangements, including looking at the feasibility of undertaking a 
Community Governance Review in respect of the town and parish councils, before it 
made any recommendations to the Council.

Members were advised that although the LGBCE was responsible for reviewing 
Dover District Council’s electoral arrangements, the Council was itself responsible 
for undertaking a Community Governance Review of the town and parish councils.

RESOLVED: That the Head of Democratic Services be requested to develop a 
report on the implications of conducting a review of the Council’s 
electoral arrangements, including a time line for the process and a 
Community Governance Review. 

The meeting ended at 9.41 am.

7


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Minutes

